# THE MINIMUM WAGES ACT, 1948

# **Contents**

1.	Short title and extent	4
2.	Interpretation	4
3.	Fixing of minimum rates of wages	6
4.	Minimum rate of wages	. 10
6.	Advisory committees and sub-committees [Repealed]	12
7.	Advisory Board	. 12
8.	Central Advisory Board	. 12
9.	Composition of committees, etc	. 12
10.	[Correction of errors	. 13
11.	Wages in kind	. 14
12.	Payment of minimum rates of wages	. 15
13.	Fixing hours for a normal working day, etc	. 16
14.	Overtime	. 17
15.	Wages of worker who works for less than normal working day	17
16.	Wages for two or more classes of work	. 18
17.	Minimum time rate wages for piece work	18
18.	Maintenance of registers and records	. 18
18A.	[Obligation of employer	. 18
19.	Inspectors	. 19
20.	Claims	. 21
21.	Single application in respect of a number of employees	. 25
21A.	[Liability for payment of court fee	. 25
22.	[Penalties for certain offences	. 26
22A.	[General provision for punishment of other offences	. 27
22B.	[Cognizance of offences	. 28
22C.	[Offences by companies	. 29
22D.	[Payment of undisbursed amounts due to employees	. 31
22E.	[Protection against attachment of assets of employer with Government	. 32
22F.	[Application of Payment of Wages Act, 1936, to scheduled employments	32
23.	Exemption of employer from liability in certain cases	. 32
24.	Bar of suits	. 33
25.	Contracting out	. 33
26	Exemptions and exceptions	33

27.	Power of State Government to add to Schedule	34
27A.	Protection to persons acting under the Act	34
27B.	Transfer of cases from one Court to another	34
28.	Power of Central Government to give directions	36
29.	Power of the Central Government to make rules	36
30.	Power of appropriate Government to make rules	36
30A.	[Rules made by Central Government to be laid before Parliament]	37
31.	Validation of fixation of certain minimum rates of wages	. 37

# THE MINIMUM WAGES ACT, 1948<sup>1</sup>

(11 of 1948)

[15<sup>th</sup> March, 1948]

An Act to provide for fixing minimum rates of wages in certain employments.

Whereas it is expedient to provide for fixing minimum rates of wages in certain employments;

It is hereby enacted as follows:

#### 1. Short title and extent

- (1) This Act may be called the Minimum wages Act, 1948.
- (2) It extends to  ${}^{2}$ [the whole of India]  ${}^{3}$ [\* \* \*].

# 2. Interpretation

In this Act, unless there is anything repugnant in the subject or context,

- (a) <sup>4</sup>["adolescent" means a person who has completed his fourteenth year of age but has not completed his eighteenth year;
- (aa) "adult" means a person who has completed his eighteenth year of age;
  - (b) "appropriate Government" means:
    - (i) in relation to any scheduled employment carried only or under the authority of the <sup>5</sup>[Central Government or a railway administration], or in relation to a mine, oilfield or major port, or any corporation established by <sup>6</sup>[a Central Act,] the Central Government, and
    - (ii) in relation to any other scheduled employment, the <sup>7</sup>[State Government;]
- <sup>8</sup>[(bb) "child" means a person who has not completed his fourteenth year of age;]
  - (c) "competent authority" means the authority appointed by the appropriate Government by notification in its Official Gazette to ascertain from time to time the cost of living index number applicable to the employees employed in the scheduled employments specified in such notification.
  - (d) "cost of living index number", in relation to employees in any scheduled employment in respect of which minimum rates of wages have been fixed, means the index number ascertained and declared by the competent authority by notification in the Official Gazette to be the cost of living index number applicable to employees in such employment.
  - (e) "employer" means any person who employs, whether directly or through another person, or whether on behalf of himself or any other person, one or more employees in any scheduled employment in respect of which minimum rates of wages have been fixed under this Act, and includes, except in sub-section (3) of section 26:

#### **GUJARAT AMENDMENT**

(e) "employer" means any person who employs, whether directly or through another person, <sup>9</sup>["including outsourcing agency"] whether on behalf of himself or any

other person, one or more employees in any scheduled employment in respect of which minimum rates of wages have been fixed under this Act, and includes, except in sub-section (3) of section 26:

- (i) in a factory where there is carried on any scheduled employment in respect of which minimum rates of wages have been fixed under this Act, any person named under <sup>10</sup>[clause (f) of sub-section7of the Factories Act, 1948 (63 of 1948)].as manager of the factory;
- (ii) in any scheduled employment under the control of any Government in India in respect of which minimum rates of wages have been fixed under this Act, the person or authority appointed by such Government for the supervision and control of employees or where no person or authority is so appointed, the head of the department;
- (iii) in any scheduled employment under any local authority in respect of which minimum rates of wages have been fixed under this Act, the person appointed by such authority for the supervision and control of employees or where no person is so appointed, the chief executive officer of the local authority;
- (iv) in any other case where there is carried on any scheduled employment in respect of which minimum rates of wages have been fixed under this Act, any person responsible to the owner for the supervision and control of the employees or for the payment of wages;

# **GUJARAT AMENDMENT**

- <sup>11</sup> ["Explanation: For the purposes of this clause, "outsourcing agency" means an agency which by a contractual agreement or otherwise, provides services or supplies employees."]
- (f) "Prescribed" means prescribed by rules made under this Act;
- (g) "Scheduled employment" means an employment specified in the Schedule, or any process or branch of work forming part of such employment;

# **DELHI AMENDMENT**

- (ga) <sup>12</sup>[State Government means the Lieutenant Governor of National Capital Territory of Delhi, appointed by the President under Article 239 and designated as such under Article 239 AA of the Constitution.]
- (h) "wages" means all remuneration, capable of being expressed in terms of money which would, if the terms of the contract of employment, express or implied, were fulfilled, be payable to a person employed in respect of his employment or of work done in such employment <sup>13</sup>[and includes house rent allowance], but does not include:
  - (i) the value of
    - (a) any house accommodation, supply of light, water, medical attendance, or
    - (b) any other amenity or any service excluded by general or special order of the appropriate Government;

- (ii) any contribution paid by the employer to any Pension Fund or Provident Fund or under any Scheme of social insurance;
- (iii) any travelling allowance or the value of any travelling concession;
- (iv) any sum paid to the person employed to defray special expenses entailed on him by the nature of his employment; or
- (v) any gratuity payable on discharge;
- (i) "employee" means any person who is employed for hire or reward to do any work, skilled or unskilled, manual or clerical, in scheduled employment in respect of which minimum rates of wages have been fixed; and includes an out-worker to whom any articles or materials are given out by another person to be made up, cleaned, washed, altered, ornamented, finished, repaired, adapted or otherwise processed for sale for the purposes of the trade or business of that other person where the process is to be carried out either in the home of the out-worker or in some other premises not being premises under the control and management of that other person; and also includes an employee declared to be an employee by the appropriate Government; but does not include any member of the Armed Forces of the <sup>14</sup>[union].

#### **STATE AMENDMENTS**

#### MADHYA PRADESH

- (1) <sup>15</sup>[In section 2, in clause (e), for the words, brackets and figures "and includes, except in sub-section (3) of section 26", substitute the words, brackets and figures "and includes a person deemed to be employer under section 22CC and further includes, except in sub-section (3) of section 26".]
- (2) Clause (i) of section 2 shall be re-numbered as clause (ee) and to that clause following Explanation shall be added:
  - <sup>16</sup>["Explanation.--An employee who has been dismissed, discharged or retrenched from employment or whose employment has been otherwise terminated shall, in respect of all claims arising out of payment of less than the minimum rates of wages or in respect of the payment of remuneration for days of rest or for work done on such days under clauses (b), (c) of sub-section (1) of section 13 or wages at the overtime rate under section 14 during the period of his employment, be deemed to be an employee for the purpose of this Act.]"

#### **MAHARASHTRA**

<sup>17</sup>[In clause (i) of section 2, for the words "and management of that other person", substitute the words "and management of that other person: and includes for the purposes of sections 20, 21,22A, 22B,22C and 22D any person who has been an employee and who has ceased to be so by reason of superannuating, retirement, dismissal, removal, discharge, termination of his service, or otherwise howsoever."]

# 3. Fixing of minimum rates of wages

(1) <sup>18</sup>[The appropriate Government shall, in the manner hereinafter provided.

- (a) <sup>19</sup>[fix the minimum rates of wages payable to employees employed in an employment specified in Part I or Part II of the Schedule and in an employment added to either Part by notification under section 27:
  - Provided that the appropriate Government may, in prospect of employees employed in an employment specified in part II of the Schedule, instead of fixing minimum rates of wages under this clause for the whole state, fix fixing minimum rates of wages under this clause for the whole State, fix such rates for a part of the State or for any specified class or classes of such employment in the whole State or party thereof;]
- (b) review at such intervals as it may think fit, such intervals not exceeding five years. the minimum rates of wages so fixed and revise the minimum rates, if necessary:
  - <sup>20</sup>[Provided that where for any reason the appropriate Government has not reviewed the minimum rates of wages fixed by it in respect of any scheduled employment within any interval of five years, nothing contained in this clause shall be deemed to prevent it from reviewing the minimum rates after the expire of the said period of five years and revising them. if necessary, and until they are so revised the minimum rates in force immediately before the expiry of the said period of five years shall continue in force.]
- (1A) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub- section (1) the appropriate Government may refrain from fixing minimum rates of wages in respect of any scheduled employment in which there are in the whole State less than one thousand employees engaged in such employment, but if at any time, <sup>21</sup>[\* \* \*]the appropriate Government comes to a finding after such inquiry as it may make or cause to be made in this behalf that the number of employees in any scheduled employment in respect of which it has refrained from fixing minimum rates of wages has risen to one thousand or more, it shall fix minimum rates of wages payable to employees in such employment <sup>22</sup> [as soon as may be after such finding].]
- (2) The appropriate Government may fix:
  - (a) a minimum rate of wages for time work (hereinafter referred to as 'a minimum time rate');
  - (b) a minimum rate of wages for piece work (hereinafter referred to as 'minimum piece rate');
  - (c) a minimum rate of remuneration to apply in the case of employees employed in piece work for the purpose of securing to such employees a minimum rate of wages on a time work basis (hereinafter referred to as 'a guaranteed time rate');
  - a minimum rate (whether a time rate or a piece rate) to apply in substitution for minimum rate which would otherwise be applicable, in respect of overtime work done by employees (hereinafter referred to as 'overtime rate');

- <sup>23</sup>[(2A) Where in respect of an industrial dispute relating to the rates of wages payable to and of the employees employed in a scheduled employment, any proceeding is pending before a Tribunal or National Tribunal under the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947 (14 of 1947) or before any like authority under any other law for the time being in force, or an award made by any Tribunal, National Tribunal or such authority is in operation, and a notification fixing or revising the minimum rates of wages in respect of the scheduled employment is issued during the pendency of such proceeding or the operation of the award, then, notwithstanding anything contained in this Act, the minimum rates of wages so fixed or so revised shall not apply to those employees during the period in which the proceeding is pending and the award made therein is in operation or, as the case may be, where the notification is issued during the period of operation of an award, during that period; and where such proceeding or award relates to the rates of wages payable to all the employees in the scheduled employment, no minimum rates of wages shall be fixed or revised in respect of that employment during the said period.]
  - (3) In fixing or revising minimum rates of wages under this section,
    - (a) different minimum rates of wages may be fixed for:
      - (i) different scheduled employments;
      - (ii) different classes of work in the same scheduled employment;
      - (iii) adults, adolescents, children and apprentices;
      - (iv) different localities;
    - (b) <sup>24</sup>[minimum rates of wages may be fixed by any one or more of the following wage- periods, namely:
      - (i) by the hour,
      - (ii) by the day,
      - (iii) by the month, or
      - (iv) by such other larger wage- period as may be prescribed, and where such rates are fixed by the day or by the month, the manner of calculating wages for a month or for a day, as the case may be, may be indicated:]

Provided that where any wage- periods have been fixed under section 4 of the Payment of Wages Act 1936 (4 of 1936), minimum wages shall be fixed in accordance therewith.

#### **STATE AMENDMENTS**

### **GUJARAT**

[In section 3 of the Act

to sub-section (1A), the following proviso shall be added, namely:

"Provided that, where the State Government had for any reason not fixed the minimum rates of wages in respect of any scheduled employment within one year from the date on which it came to a finding as aforesaid in respect of such employment, nothing

contained in this sub-section shall, after the commencement of the Minimum Wages (Gujarat Amendment) Act, 1961, prevent the State Government from fixing the minimum rates of wages in respect of such employment even after the expiry of the said period of one year."]<sup>25</sup>

#### **KERALA**

[Section 3, in its application to the fixation of minimum rates of wages in respect of employments specified in Part I and Part II of the Schedule to the Act in relation to which the appropriate government is the State Government, shall have effect in the State of Kerala subject to the amendments specified below. In sub-section (1) of section 3 in the opening words for the words "The appropriate Government", substitute the words "The State Government"]<sup>26</sup>

#### **MADHYA PRADESH**

(1) To sub-section (1A) of section 3, insert the following proviso, namely:

"Provided that where for any reason the State Government has not fixed the minimum rates of wages in respect of any scheduled employment within the period specified in this sub-section, the State Government may, by notification, extend from time to time, the said period by a further period not exceeding one year in the aggregate:

Provided further that the State Government may, instead of fixing minimum rates of wages under this sub-section for the whole Slate, fix such rates for a part of the State" or for any specified class or classes of such employment or category or categories of employees in such employment in the whole State or part thereof."

- (2) After sub-section (1A) of section 3, add the following sub-section, namely:
  - "(1B) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (1), the State Government may, at the time of review under clause (b) of that sub-section-
  - (a) split up the class or classes of such employment or category or categories of employees in such employment or amalgamate the class or classes of such employment or category or categories of employees in such employment and revise the minimum rates of wages fixed in respect thereof under sub-section (1);
  - (b) fix the minimum rates of wages for the class or classes of such employment or category or categories of employees in such employment as were not in existence at the time of fixing the minimum rates under sub-section (1) or were in existence but were not covered by such fixation;
  - (c) fix the minimum rates of wages, mentioned under clause (a) or clause (b)for the whole State or for any such part thereof for which they were not fixed under subsection (1) or extend the minimum rates fixed under subsection (1) for any part of the State, to the whole State or any other part thereof."
- (3) In sub-clause (iii) of clause (a) of sub-section (3) of section 3, after the word "adults" insert the words and brackets "(males and females)"<sup>27</sup>

#### **MAHARASHTRA**

(1) To sub-section (1A) of section 3, add the following proviso, namely:

[Provided that, where the State Government has not for any reason fixed the minimum rates of wages in respect of any scheduled employment within one year from the date on which it came to a finding as aforesaid in respect of such employment, nothing contained in this sub-section shall, after the commencement of the Minimum Wages (Maharashtra Amendment) Act, 1960, prevent the State Government from fixing the minimum rates of wages in respect of such employment even after the expiry of the said period of one year."] <sup>28</sup>

(2) For the proviso to clause (a) of sub-section (1) of section 3, substitute the following, namely:

["Provided that the Stale Government may, instead of fixing the minimum rates of wages under this clause for the whole State, fix such rates for a part of the State or for any specified class or classes of such employment in the whole of the State or any part thereof and in the case of an employment under any local authority, or class of local authorities."]<sup>29</sup>

#### **BIHAR**

In section 3, sub-section (2A) is omitted. [\*\*\*\*\*]30

# 4. Minimum rate of wages

- (1) Any minimum rate of wages fixed or revised by the appropriate Government in respect of scheduled employments under section 3 may consist of
  - a basic rate of wages and a special allowance at a rate to be adjusted, at such intervals and in such manner as the appropriate Government may direct, to accord as nearly as practicable with the variation in the cost of living index number applicable to such workers (hereinafter referred to as the "coast of living allowance"); or
  - (ii) a basic rate of wages with or without the cost of living allowance, and the cash value of the concessions in respect of supplies of essential commodities at concession rates, where so authorised; or
  - (iii) an all-inclusive rate allowing for the basic rate, the cost of living allowance and the cash value of the concessions, if any.
- (2) The cost of living allowance and the cash value of the concessions in respect of supplies of essential commodities at concession rates shall be computed by the competent authority at such intervals and in accordance with such directions as may be specified or given by the appropriate Government.

#### **STATE AMENDMENT**

# **MADHYA PRADESH**

[In its application to the State of Madhya Pradesh section 11of the principal Act is to be renumbered as section 4A] $^{31}$ 

# **DELHI**

(3) <sup>32</sup>[The appropriate government, in fixing or revising the minimum rates of the wages under foregoing subsections, shall take into account the skill required, the arduousness of the work assigned to the worker, the cost of living of the worker and other such

components which are related to fixing or revising minimum rates of wages as the Government may think appropriate.]

# 5. <sup>33</sup>[Procedure for fixing and revising minimum wages]

- (1) In fixing minimum rates of wages in respect of any scheduled employment for the first time under this Act or in revising minimum rates of wages so fixed, the appropriate Government shall either
  - appoint as many committees and sub committees as it considers necessary to hold enquiries and advise it in respect of such fixation or revision, as the case may be, or
  - (b) by notification in the Official Gazette, publish its proposals for the information of persons likely to be affected thereby and specify a date, not less than two months from the date of the notification, on which the proposals will be taken into consideration.
- (2) After considering the advice of the committee or committees appointed under clause (a) of sub- section (1), or as the case may be, all representations received by it before the date specified in the notification under clause (b) of that sub-section, the appropriate Government shall, by notification in the Official Gazette, fix, or, as the case may be, revise the minimum rates of wages in respect of each scheduled employment, and unless such notification otherwise provides, it shall come into force on the expiry of three months from the date of its issue;

Provided that where the appropriate Government proposes to revise the minimum rates of wages by the mode specified in clause (b) of sub-section (1), the appropriate Government shall consult the Advisory Board also.]

# **STATE AMENDMENTS**

#### **ASSAM**

To clause (a) of sub-section (1) of section 5 add at the end the following proviso, after adding a colon after the word "be" and deleting the comma and the word "or" namely:

["Provided the committees and sub-committees as so appointed may advise the appropriate Government in respect of fixation of wages on interim measure after holding such preliminary enquiries as the necessary committee or the sub-committee, as the case may be, considers in this behalf and the appropriate government after considering such advise may fix the wages pending the fixation of the minimum rate of wages as required under sub-section (2), or."]<sup>34</sup>

#### **MADHYA PRADESH**

The M.P. Minimum Wages Fixation Act, 1962 (16 of 1962) is an Act to fix the minimum wages in certain scheduled employments and to provide for certain other matters connected therewith. Section 3 of this Act says that notwithstanding anything contained in section 5 of the principal Act of 1948 as applicable to State of Madhya Pradesh or any other provision contained therein in that behalf or any judgment, decree or order of any Court to the contrary, the State can fix minimum rates of wages in respect of employment in items 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 11 of Part I as well as in respect of employments

in Part II of the Schedule. Rates fixed in respect of the said employments shall be enforceable with effect from 1st January, 1959.

Section 4 of that M.P. Act (16 of 1962) states that the States shall also have power to revise the rates fixed, from time to time.<sup>35</sup>

# 6. Advisory committees and sub-committees [Repealed]

[Rep. by the Minimum Wages (Amendment) Act, 1957 (30 of 1957), section 5.]

# 7. Advisory Board

For the purpose of co- coordinating the work of <sup>36</sup>[committees and sub- committees appointed under section 5] and advising the appropriate Government generally in the matter of fixing and revising minimum rates of wages, the appropriate Government shall appoint an Advisory Board.

# 8. Central Advisory Board

- (1) For the purpose of advising the Central and<sup>37</sup>[State Governments] in the matters of the fixation and revision of minimum rates of wages and other matters under this Act and for co- coordinating the work of the Advisory Boards, the central Government shall appoint a Central Advisory Board.
- (2) The Central Advisory Board shall consist of persons to be nominated by the Central Government representing employers and employees in the scheduled employments, who shall be equal in number, and independent persons not exceeding one- third of its total number of members; one of such independent persons shall be appointed the Chairman of the Board by the Central Government.

# 9. Composition of committees, etc.

Each of the committees, sub committees<sup>38</sup>[\* \* \*] and the Advisory Board shall consist of persons to be nominated by the appropriate Government representing employers and employees in the scheduled employments, who shall be equal in number, and independent person not exceeding one- third of its total number of members of members; one of such independent persons shall be appointed the Chairman by the appropriate Government.

#### STATE AMENDMENTS

### **MADHYA PRADESH**

In section 9 of the Principal Act,

- (1) after the words, "and independent persons", insert the words, "including officers of Government",
- (2) for the words, "such independent persons" substitute the words, "such independent persons, or such officers of Government", and
- (3) add at the end the following proviso and the explanation, namely:

"Provided that the number of officers of Government shall not exceed two"

Explanation. In this section

(i) "a person representing employer" shall mean

- (a) an employer; or
- (b) an officer of an association of employers; or
- (c) "an officer of a federation of association of employers to which the association referred to in clause (b) is affiliated;
- (ii) "a person representing employees" shall mean--
  - (a) an employee; or
  - (b) an officer of a trade union functioning in the scheduled employment; or
  - (c) an officer of federation of trade unions in the State to which trade union referred to in clause (b) is affiliated."

[After section 9, insert the following section 9A:

"9A. Finality of orders consisting Board, Committee, sub-committee, etc.: No order of the State Government nominating any person as the Chairman or a member of the Advisory Board or a committee or sub-committee shall be called in question in any manner and no act or proceeding before any Board. Committee or sub-committee shall be called in question in any manner in any Court of law on the ground merely of the existence of any vacancy in or of any defect or irregularity in the constitution of such Board, committee or subcommittee."

### **RAJASTHAN**

To section 9 add the following explanation with retrospective effect:

["Explanation: For the purposes of this section, an officer of the Stale Government shall be deemed to be 'independent' notwithstanding that the State Government is an employer in any scheduled employment."]<sup>40</sup>

[After section 9 of the principal Act, the following new section shall be inserted, namely:

"9A. Finality of order constituting Board, Committee, sub-committee, etc.

No order of the State Government nominating any person as the Chairman or a Member of the Advisory Board or a Committee or Sub-Committee shall be called in question in any manner and no action or proceedings before any Board, Committee or Sub-Committee shall be called in question in any manner in any court of law on the ground merely of the existence of any vacancy in or of any defect or irregularity in the constitution of such Board, Committee or Sub-Committee."]<sup>41</sup>

#### **TAMIL NADU**

["9A. Saving--No order of the State Government nominating any person as the Chairman or a Member of the Advisory Board or a Committee or Sub-Committee shall be called in question in any manner and no action or proceedings before any Board, Committee or Sub-Committee shall be called in question in any manner in any court of law on the ground merely of the existence of any vacancy in or of any defect or irregularity in the constitution of such Board. Committee or Sub-Committee."]<sup>42</sup>

# 10. 43[Correction of errors

(1) The appropriate Government may, at any time, by notification in the Official Gazette, correct clerical or arithmetical mistakes in any order fixing or revising

- minimum rates of wages under this Act, or errors arising therein from any accidental slip or omission.
- (2) Every such notification shall, as soon as may be after it is issued, be placed before the Advisory Board for information.]

# 11. Wages in kind

(1) Minimum wages payable under this Act shall be paid in cash:

#### **GUJARAT AMENDMENT**

<sup>44</sup>[Provided that every establishment registered under the Factories 63 of 1948. Act, 1948 and every establishment registered under the Gujarat Shops and Establishments Act, 1948, wherein not less than twenty employees are engaged, shall pay the minimum wages only through cheque or by depositing the same in any Bank."]

#### **MAHARASHTRA AMENDMENT**

# 11. Mode of payment of minimum wages

(1) Minimum wages payable under this Act shall be paid in cash:

<sup>45</sup>["Provided that, the minimum wages payable to the employees, who are in continuous service as stipulated in section 25B of the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947 in the schedule employment and drawing wages of Rs. 3000 per month or more, except agricultural labourers and sugarcane cutting labourers, shall be paid either by an account payee cheque drawn in favour of the employees or by crediting the wages in the bank account of the employees:

Provided further that, the minimum wages payable to the employees in the schedule employments situated in the area of Thane District in the State of Maharashtra, or in any other area as may be notified by the State Government in the Official Gazette, whether they are in continuous service as stipulated in section 25B of the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947 or otherwise and irrespective of the amount of wages drawn, except agricultural labourers and sugarcane cutting labourers, shall also be paid either by an account payee cheque drawn in favour of the employees or by crediting the wages in the bank account of the employees."]

- (2) Where it has been the custom to pay wages wholly or partly in kind, the appropriate Government being of the opinion that it is necessary in the circumstances of the case may, by notification in the Official Gazette, authorise the payment of minimum wages either wholly or partly in kind.
- (3) If the appropriate Government is of the opinion that provision should be made for the supply of essential commodities at concession rates, the appropriate Government may, by notification in the Official Gazette, authorise the provision of such supplies at concession rates.

(4) The cash value of wages in kind and of concessions in respect of supplies of essential commodities at concession rates authorised under sub-section (2) and (3) shall be estimated in the prescribed manner.

#### **DELHI**

(1) Minimum wages payable under this Act shall be paid <sup>46</sup>[by depositing the same in the bank account of the employees, electronically or by account payee cheque]:

<sup>47</sup>[Provided that payment of wages to the workers employed on daily wages basis, not less than minimum wages as notified from time to time by appropriate Government, may be made in cash;

Provided further that in special circumstances which are beyond the control of employer like- fire in the establishment, natural calamities, death of employer or director of the establishment and other such circumstances as prescribed by appropriate government, the payment of wages may be made in cash.]

### **UTTAR PRADESH**

(1) <sup>48</sup>[Every employer/owner of industrial or other establishment shall make payment of wages to his employee through cheque or N.E.F.T, E.C.S. or other banking solutions:

Provided that if the work of employed person is of temporary, casual or fixed term then on his written consent and on submission of a copy of his self-attested aadhar card, the employer can make cash payment of wages not more than rupees five thousand once in three months.]

#### **STATE AMENDMENT**

# **MADHYA PRADESH**

[Re-number section 11of the principal Act, as section 4A.]<sup>49</sup>

### 12. Payment of minimum rates of wages

- (1) Where in respect of any scheduled employment a notification under section 5<sup>50</sup>[\* \* \*] is in force, the employer shall pay to every employee engaged in a scheduled employment under him wages at a rate not less than the minimum rate of wages fixed by such notification for that class of employees in that employment without any deduction except as may be authorised within such time and subject to such conditions as may be prescribed.
- (2) Nothing contained in this section shall affect the provisions of the Payment of Wages Act, 1936 (4 of 1936).

# **STATE AMENDMENT**

#### **BIHAR**

In section 2, after sub-section (1), insert the following sub-section, namely:

["(1A) Where immediately before the issue of a notification under section 5 fixing or revising the minimum rates of wages in respect of any scheduled employment, wages at a rate higher than the rate so fixed or revised, were payable either by contract or agreement, or under any other law for the time being in force, then,

notwithstanding anything contained in this Act, wages at such higher rate shall be payable to the employees in such scheduled employment and the wages so payable shall be deemed to be minimum wages for the purpose of this Act."]<sup>51</sup>

#### **MADHYA PRADESH**

In section 12, after sub-section (1), insert the following:

["(1A) Where immediately before the issue of a notification under section 5 fixing or revising the minimum rates of wages in respect of any scheduled employment, wages at a rate higher than the rate so fixed or revised, were payable under this Act. or under any law or award or agreement or customs or usage for the time being in force, then, notwithstanding anything contained in this Act, wages at such higher rate shall be payable to the employees in such scheduled and the wages so payable shall be deemed to be the minimum wages for the purposes of this Act."]<sup>52</sup>

[(2) Provisions of this section shall apply to minimum rates of wages specified in section  $3.\ ]^{53}$ 

# 13. Fixing hours for a normal working day, etc.

- (1) <sup>54</sup>[In regard to any scheduled employment minimum rates of wages in respect of which have been fixed under this Act, the appropriate Government may
  - fix the number of hours of work which shall constitute a normal working day, inclusive of one or more specified intervals;
  - (b) Provide for a day of rest in every period of seven days which shall be allowed to all employees or to any specified class of employees and for the payment of remuneration in respect of such days of rest;
  - (c) provide for payment for work on a day of rest at a rate not less than the overtime rate.
- (2) <sup>55</sup>[The provisions of sub- section (1) shall, in relation to the following classes of employees, apply only to such extent and subject to such conditions as may be prescribed:
  - (a) employees engaged on urgent work, or in any emergency which could not have been foreseen or prevented;
  - (b) employees engaged in work in the nature of preparatory or complementary work which must necessarily be carried on outside the limits laid down for the general working in the employment concerned;
  - (c) employees whose employment is essentially intermittent.
  - (d) employees engaged in any work which for technical reasons has to be completed before the duty is over;
  - (e) employees engaged in a work which could not be carried on except at times dependent on the irregular action of natural forces.
  - (3) For the purposes of clause (c) of sub-section (2), employment of an employee is essentially intermittent when it is declared to be so by the appropriate Government on the ground that the daily hours of duty of the employee, or if there be no daily hours of duty as such for the employee, the hours of duty,

normally include periods of inaction during which the employee may be on duty but is not called upon to display either physical activity or sustained attention.]

#### **STATE AMENDMENT**

### **MAHARASHTRA**

In section 13, in sub-section (1), after clause (a), insert the following clause:

- "(aa) fix the number of hours of work which shall constitute a normal working week"; and
- (2) [In section 13, in sub-section (3), after the words "the appropriate Government", insert the words "or by an officer not below the rank of a Deputy Commissioner of Labour especially authorized by the State Government in this behalf."]<sup>56</sup>

#### 14. Overtime

- (1) Where an employee, whose minimum rate of wages is fixed under this Act by the hour, by the day or by such a longer wage-period as may be prescribed, works on any day in excess of the number of hours constituting a normal working day, the employer shall pay him for every hour or for part of an hour so worked in excess at the overtime rate fixed under this Act or under any law of the appropriate Government for the time being in force, whichever is higher.
- (2) Nothing in this Act shall prejudice the operation of the provisions of <sup>57</sup>[section 59 of the Factories Act, 1948 (3 of 1948)] in any case where those provisions are applicable.

### **STATE AMENDMENT**

#### **MADHYA PRADESH**

[In section 14, after sub-section (1), add the following:

"(1A) The State Government may, by notification fix the limit for overtime work in any scheduled employment subject to such conditions and restrictions as may be specified in the notification."]<sup>58</sup>

#### **DELHI**

[In Section 14 of Sub-section (1), substitute the following;

(1) Where an employee, whose minimum rate of wages is fixed under this Act by the hour, by the day or by such a longer wage-period as may be prescribed, works on any day in excess of the number of hours constituting a normal working day, the words <sup>59</sup>[the employer shall pay him for every hour or for part of an hour so worked in excess at the overtime rate fixed under this Act which shall not be less than two times of the normal rate of wages fixed under this Act or under any law of the appropriate Government for the time being in force, whichever is higher]

# 15. Wages of worker who works for less than normal working day

If an employee whose minimum rate of wages has been fixed under this Act by the day works on any day on which he was employed for a period less than the requisite number of hours constituting a normal working day, he shall, save as otherwise hereinafter

provided, be entitled to receive wages in respect of work done by him on that day as if he had worked for a full normal working day:

Provided, however, that he shall not be entitled to receive wages for a full normal working day

- (i) in any case where his failure to work is caused by his unwillingness to work and not by the omission of the employer to provide him with, and
- (ii) in such other cases and circumstances as may be prescribed.

# 16. Wages for two or more classes of work

Where an employee does two or more classes of work to each of which a different minimum rate of wages is applicable, the employer shall pay to such employee in respect of the time respectively occupied in each such class of work, wages at not less than the minimum rate in force in respect of each such class.

#### STATE AMENDMENT

### **MADHYA PRADESH**

[In section 16, for the words "in respect of the lime respectively occupied in each class of work, wages at not less than the minimum rate in respect of each such class" substitute the words "wages at the highest of the rates prescribed for such class."]<sup>60</sup>

# 17. Minimum time rate wages for piece work

Where an employee is employed on piece work for which minimum time rate and not a minimum piece rate has been fixed under this Act, the employer shall pay to such employee ages at not less than the minimum time rate.

#### 18. Maintenance of registers and records

- (1) Every employer shall maintain such registers and records giving such particulars of employees employed by him, the work performed by them the wages paid to them, the receipts given by them and such other particulars and in such form as may be prescribed.
- (2) Every employer shall keep exhibited, in such manner as may be prescribed, in the factory, workshop or place where the employees in the scheduled employment may be employed, or in the case of out-workers, in such factory, workshop or place as may be used for giving out-work to them notices in the prescribed form containing prescribed particulars.
- (3) The appropriate Government may, by rules made under this Act, provide for the issue of wage books or wage slips to employees employed in any scheduled employment in respect of which minimum rates of wages have been fixed and prescribe the manner in which entries shall be made and authenticated in such wage books or wage slips by the employer or his agent.

#### **GUJARAT AMENDMENT**

# 18A. <sup>61</sup>[Obligation of employer

(1) Every employer in such class of employment as may be notified by the State Government, taking into consideration the number of employees employed by

- him, shall get himself enrolled under the Self Certification cum Consolidated Annual Return Scheme as may be prescribed.
- (2) The State Government shall prescribe the audit and assessment norms for compliance of labour laws and labour standards.
- (3) The incentives to the employer for compliance of labour laws and labour standards shall be, subject to the outcome of audit and assessment, as may be prescribed.
- (4) Any employer who complies with the provision of sub-section (2) shall be eligible for exemption from the inspections as provided under the Act."]

#### **STATE AMENDMENTS**

#### **BIHAR**

[In section 18, after sub-section (3), add the following sub-section:

"(4) The appropriate Government may, by rules made under this Act, also provide for the issue of identity cards and services certificate to employees employed in any scheduled employment in such form and containing such particulars as may be prescribed."]<sup>62</sup>

### **MADHYA PRADESH**

- (1) In section 18 after sub-section (3), add the following:
  - ["(4) Every employer shall in such scheduled employments as the State Government may by notification, specify in this behalf, display a notice of period of work including overtime in respect of all of his employees in such manner as may be prescribed".]<sup>63</sup>
- (2) After section 18, insert the following new section 18A, namely:
  - ["18A. Chief Inspector.--The State Government may, by notification, appoint any person to be the Chief Inspector who shall exercise such powers and perform such duties throughout the State as may be prescribed"]<sup>64</sup>
  - Note. Section 18A as inserted by M.P. Act 11 of 1959 is now numbered as section 22CC by M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 21 (b) (w.e.f. 23-6-1961).

#### **MAHARASHTRA**

[In section 18, in sub-section (3) after the words "wage slips", at both the places where they occur, the words "and attendance-cards" shall be inserted.]<sup>65</sup>

#### **UTTAR PRADESH**

[This section does not apply to local authorities in UP. [See U.P. Gazette, dated 3rd December, 1966, Pt. I. p. 6252]

This Section does not apply to employees employed in certain employments in U.P.]66

# 19. Inspectors

(1) The appropriate Government may, by notification in the Official Gazette appoint such persons as it thinks fit to be Inspectors for the purposes of this Act and define the local limits within which they shall exercise their functions.

- (2) Subject to any rules made in this behalf, an Inspector may, within the local limits for which he is appointed
  - (a) enter, at all reasonable hours, with such assistants (if any), being persons in the service of the<sup>67</sup>[Government] or any local or other public authority, as the thinks fit, any remises or place where employees are employed or work is given out to out- workers in any scheduled employment in respect of which minimum rates of wages have been fixed under this Act, for the purpose of examining any register, record of wages or notices required to be kept or exhibited by or under this Act or rules made thereunder, and require the production thereof for inspection;
  - (b) examine any person whom he finds in any such premises or place and who, he has reasonable cause to believe, is an employee employed therein or an employee to whom work is given out therein;
  - (c) require any person giving out- work and any out- workers, to give any information which is in his power to give, with respect to the names and addresses of the persons to, for and from whom the work is given out or received, and with respect to the payments to be made for the work;
  - (d) <sup>68</sup>[seize or take copies of such register, record of wages or notices or portions thereof as he may consider relevant in respect of an offence under this Act which he has reason to believe has been committed by an employer; and]
  - (e) exercise such other powers as may be prescribed.
- (3) Every Inspector shall be deemed to be a public servant within the meaning of the Indian Penal Code (45 of 1860).
- (4) <sup>69</sup> [Any person required to produce any document or thing or to give any information by an Inspector under sub- section (2) shall be deemed to be legally bound to do so within the meaning of section 175 and section 176 of the Indian Penal Code (45 of 1860).]

### **STATE AMENDMENT**

# **BIHAR**

- (1) In section 19, in sub-section (2), after clause (d), insert the following clause namely:
  - ["(dd) take or accept statement of the guardian of such employees who, because of certain physical or mental disabilities (deaf, dumb, etc.) cannot give a statement about payment of wages less than the minimum rates of wages fixed for the employee's class of work, or less than the amount due to him under the provision of the Act:
  - (ddd) conduct any application presented under sub-section (2) of section 20 of the Act before any authority appointed under sub-section (1) of section 20 of that Act"|<sup>70</sup>

# **MADHYA PRADESH**

- (1) In section 19, in sub-section (1), for the words "and define the local limits within which they shall exercise their functions", substitute the words "specify the areas within which they shall exercise their respective jurisdiction".
- (2) In sub-section (2)
  - (a) for the words "local limits for which he is appointed", substitute the words "areas of his jurisdiction";
  - (b) in clause (a), after the words, "other public authority", insert the words, "or such person representing the employers or such person representing the employees"; and
- (3) after clause (e), insert the following Explanation:

["Explanation. For the purpose of clause (a) the expressions "a person representing employer" and "a person representing employees" shall have the meaning assigned to those expressions in section 9."]<sup>71</sup>

# 20. Claims

- (1) The appropriate Government may, by notification in the Official Gazette, appoint<sup>72</sup>[ any Commissioner for Workmen's Compensation or any officer of the Central Government exercising functions as a Labour Commissioner for any region, or any officer of the State Government not below the rank or Labour Commissioner or any] other officer with experience as a Judge of a Civil Court or as a stipendiary Magistrate to be the Authority to hear and decide for any specified area all claims arising out of payment of less than the minimum rates of wages<sup>73</sup>[ or in respect of the payment of remuneration for days of rest or for work done on such days under clause (b) or clause (c) of sub-section (1) of section 13 or of wages at the overtime rate under section 14, ] to employees employed or paid in that area.
- (2) <sup>74</sup>[Where an employee has any claim of the nature referred to in sub- section (1)], the employee himself, or any legal practitioner or any official of a registered trade union authorised in writing to act on his behalf, or any Inspector, or any person acting with the permission of the Authority appointed under sub- section (1), may apply to such Authority for a direction under sub- section (3):
  - Provided that every such application shall be presented within six months from the date on which the minimum wages<sup>75</sup>[or other amount] became payable:
  - Provided further that any application may be admitted after the said period of six months when the applicant satisfies the Authority that he had sufficient cause for not making the application within such period.
- (3) <sup>76</sup>[When any application under sub- section (2) is entertained the Authority shall hear the applicant and the employer, or give them an opportunity of being heard, and after such further inquiry, if any, as it may consider necessary, may, without prejudice to any other penalty to which the employer may be liable under this Act, direct
  - (i) in the case of a claim arising out of payment of less than the minimum rates of wages, the payment to the employee of the amount by which the

- minimum wages payable to him exceed the amount actually paid, together with the payment of such compensation as the Authority may think fit, not exceeding ten times the amount of such excess;
- (ii) in any other case, the payment of the amount due to the employee, together with the payment of such compensation as the Authority may think fit, not exceeding ten rupees.

and the Authority may direct payment of such compensation in cases where the excess or the amount due is paid by the employer to the employee before the disposal of the application.]

- (4) If the Authority hearing any application under this section is satisfied that it was either malicious or vexatious, it may direct that a penalty not exceeding fifty rupees be paid to the employer by the person presenting the application.
- (5) Any amount directed to be paid under this section may be recovered
  - (a) if the Authority is a Magistrate, by the Authority as if it were a fine imposed by the Authority as a Magistrate, or
  - (b) if the Authority is not a Magistrate, by any Magistrate to whom the Authority makes application in this behalf, as if it were a fine imposed by such Magistrate.
- (6) Every direction of the Authority under this section shall be final.
- (7) Every Authority appointed under sub- section (1) shall have all the powers of a Civil Court under the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 (5 of 1908), for the purpose of taking evidence and of enforcing the attendance of witnesses and compelling the production of documents, and every such Authority shall be deemed to be a Civil Court for all the purposes of section 195 and Chapter XXXV of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1898 (5 of 1898).

#### STATE AMENDMENTS

## **BIHAR**

In Section 20,

(1)

- (a) In sub-section (1), for the words "or any officer of the State Government not below the rank of Labour commissioner", substitute the words" or one such officer of the State Government not below the rank of an Assistant Commissioner of Labour"
- (b) In Sub-section (3), after the words" the Authority shall hear the applicant and the employer" and before the word "or" insert" summarily": and
- (c) For sub-section (5), substitute the following sub-section, namely:
  - "(5) Any amount directed to be paid under this section shall be recoverable as an arrear of land revenue."
- (d) For sub-section (6) substitute the following sub-section, namely:

- "(6) Any employer or worker aggrieved by any direction made under sub-section (3) by an authority appointed under sub-section (1), on an application made under sub-section (2), may, within 30 days from the date of the direction prefer an appeal in such manner and to such Authority as the State Government may by notification specify in this behalf, and that Authority may, after hearing the appeal, confirm, modify or reverse the direction appealed against and no further appeal shall lie against the order made by such Authority in any Court of law: " and
- (e) After sub-section (6), so inserted, insert the following new sub-section namely
  - "(6A) The Authority referred to in sub-section (6) may, if it is satisfied the appellant was prevented by sufficient cause from performing the appeal within the period specified in sub-section (6), allow the appeal to be preferred within a further period of 30 days but not thereafter."<sup>77</sup>

In section 20 of the principal Act,

- (i) after sub-section (4), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:
  - "(4A) No employer shall, during the pendency of any proceedings arising out of any claim case, take any action against any employee concerned in such claim case:
  - by altering to the prejudice of such employee, the conditions of service applicable to him immediately before the commencement of such proceedings; and
  - (b) by discharging, terminating the services in any manner of punishing whether by dismissal or otherwise of such workers, save with the express permission in writing of the Authority before whom the proceeding is pending."
- (ii) after sub-section (5), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely:
  - ["(5A) At the time of hearing, the authority may direct the employers to deposit at least 50% of the claimed amount with the Authority excluding the amount of compensation. The said amount may be paid to the claimant which shall be adjusted subsequently with the decreed amount."]<sup>78</sup>

#### **MADHYA PRADESH**

For sub-section (1) of section 20 of the principal Act, the following sub-section shall be substituted, namely:

(1) The appropriate Government may, by notification in the official Gazette, appoint any Commissioner for Workmen's Compensation or any officer of the Central Government exercising functions as a Labour Commissioner of any region or any officer of the State Government not below the rank of Labour Commissioner or any other officer with experience as a Judge of Civil Court or as a stipendiary Magistrate or any Revenue Officer not below the rank of Naib Tahsildar, to be the authority to hear and decide for any specified area alt claims arising out of payment of less than minimum rates or wages or in respect of the payment of remuneration for days of rest or for work done on such days under clause (b) or

- clause (c) of sub-section (1) of section 13 of wages at the overtime rate under section 14, to employees employed or paid in that area.
- (2) In section 20, in the proviso to sub-section (2), for the words "six months", at both the places they occur, substitute the words "one year"; and
- (3) To sub-section (4) insert following proviso:

["Provided that nothing in this sub-section shall apply to any application filed by an Inspector under sub-section (2)."]<sup>79</sup>

#### **MAHARASHTRA**

- (1) [In section 20, sub-section (1) after the words "payment of less than the minimum rates of wages", insert the words, brackets, figures "or in respect of wages not paid within the time prescribed under sub-section (1) of section 12."]<sup>80</sup>
- (2) [For the word "Magistrate" in sub-section (1) substitute the words "Judicial Magistrate." | 181

In section 20, to sub-section (1) add the following proviso:

"Provided that the State Government may, by notification in the Official Gazette, appoint any Block Development Officer. Tahsildar, Additional Tahsildar or Naib Tahsildar to be the Authority to hear and decide for any area specified in the Notification all such claims of employees employed or paid in employment in agriculture in the area so specified.

[Explanation. For the purposes of this proviso, the expression "Block Development Officer" has the meaning assigned to it in the Maharashtra ZillaParishads and Panchayat Samitis Act, 1961 (Maharashtra Act 5 of 1962)]<sup>82</sup>

#### **KARNATAKA**

[In section 20.in sub-section (1), for the words "stipendiary Magistrate" substitute the words "Judicial Magistrate."']<sup>83</sup>

<sup>84</sup>[In section 20 of the Minimum Wages Act, 1948 (Central Act XI of 1948), (herein after referred to as the Principal Act,

- (i) in sub-section (1), for the words "not below the rank of Labour Commissioner", the words "not below the rank of Assistant Labour Commissioner" shall be substituted.
- (ii) in sub-section (4), for the words "fifty rupees" the words "one thousand rupees" shall be substituted.]

# **RAJASTHAN**

[In the Minimum Wages Act 1948 (11 of 1948), in section 20, in sub-section (1), after the expression "Labour Commissioner", the expression "or a VikasAdhikari appointed under the Rajasthan Panchayat Samities and ZillaParishads Act, 1959 (Rajasthan Act 37 of 1959)" shall be inserted.]<sup>85</sup>

# **KERALA**

<sup>86</sup>[In section 20 of the Minimum Wages Act,] 1948 (Central Act] 1 of 1948) (hereinafter referred to as the principal Act),

- (a) in sub-section (1), for the words "or any officer of the State Government not below the rank of a Labour Commissioner", the words "or any officer of the State Government not below the rank of a Deputy Labour Commissioner" shall be substituted;
- (b) in sub-section (4), for the words "fifty rupees", the words "one hundred rupees" shall be substituted;
- (c) in sub-section (5), for clause (b), the following clause shall be substituted, namely: "(b) if the Authority is not a Magistrate, by the Authority, as if it were arrears of revenue due on land. without prejudice to any other mode of recovery."]

In Section 20, after sub-section (3), the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely;

(3A) <sup>87</sup> [During the pendency of the proceeding or inquiry in the application preferred by the workman under sub-section (2), the workman shall not be retrenched, dismissed, terminated or laid-off without the prior approval of the Authority before whom the application is pending.]

# 21. Single application in respect of a number of employees

- (1) <sup>88</sup> [Subject to such rules as may be prescribed, a single application] may be presented under section 20 on behalf or in respect of any number of employees employed in the scheduled employment in respect of which minimum rates of wages have been fixed and in such cases the maximum compensation which may be an awarded under sub- section (3) of section 20 shall not exceed ten times the aggregate amount of such excess <sup>89</sup>[or ten rupees per head, as the case may be].
- (2) The Authority may deal with any number of separate pending applications presented, under section 20 in respect of employees in the scheduled employments in respect of which minimum rates of wages have been fixed, as a single application presented under sub- section (1) of this section and the provisions of that sub- section shall apply accordingly.

#### **STATE AMENDMENTS**

# **GUJARAT**

# 21A. [Liability for payment of court fee

- (1) In any proceedings under section 10, the applicant shall not be liable to pay any court-fees (other than fees payable for service of process) in respect of such proceedings:
  - Provided that, when the application is presented by an Inspector, he shall not be liable to pay the process fees also.
- (2) Where the applicant succeeds in such proceedings, the authority hearing the application shall calculate the amount of court fees which would have been payable by the applicant but for sub-section (1), and direct the employer or other person responsible for the payment of wages under section 12 to pay the amount

to the State Government. The amount shall, without prejudice to any other mode of recovery; be recoverable as an arrear of land revenue-"]<sup>90</sup>

#### **MAHARASHTRA**

[Same as in Gujarat.]91

# 22. <sup>92</sup>[Penalties for certain offences

Any employer who:

- (a) pays to any employee less than the minimum rates of wages fixed for that employee's class of work, or less than the amount due to him under the provisions of this Act; or
- (b) contravenes any rule or order made under section 13,

shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months, or with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees, or with both;

Provided that in imposing any fine for an offence under this section, the Court shall take into consideration the amount of any compensation already awarded against the accused in any proceedings taken under section 20.]

#### STATE AMENDMENT

#### **BIHAR**

[In section 22, for the words "six months" substitute the words "one year "and for the words "five hundred rupees", substitute the words "three thousand rupees".]<sup>93</sup>

### **MAHARASHTRA**

[In section 22, in clause (a) after the words "provisions of this Act", add the words "or fails to pay the wages within the time prescribed under sub-section (1) of section 12".

[Vide Maharashtra Act 3 of 1963, sec.7 (w.e.f 14-1-1963)].

After section 22, add the following new section, namely:

22A. Penalty for obstructing Inspector: Whoever wilfully obstructs an Inspector in the exercise of any power conferred on him by or under this Act, or fails to produce on demand by an Inspector any registers, records or other documents in his custody kept in pursuance of this Act, and which he is required to produce by or under this Act shall, on conviction, be punished with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees."]<sup>94</sup>

### **KARNATAKA**

<sup>95</sup>[In section 22 of the Principal Act for the words "which may extend to five hundred rupees" the words "which shall not be less than five thousand rupees, but which may extend to ten thousand rupees" shall be substituted.]

# **KERALA**

<sup>96</sup>[In section 22 of the principal Act, for the words "five hundred rupees" the words "one lakh rupees" shall be substituted.]

#### **DELHI**

<sup>97</sup>[In Section 22, for the words "shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months, or with fine which may extend to five hundred

rupees, or with both, the words "shall be punishable with imprisonment for a term of three years, or with fine of fifty thousand rupees, or with both." shall be substituted.]

# 22A. <sup>98</sup>[General provision for punishment of other offences

Any employer who contravenes any provision of this Act or of any rule or order made thereunder shall, if no other penalty is provided for such contravention by this Act, be punishable with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees.]

#### **BIHAR**

# 22A. [General Provision for punishment for other offences

Any employer who contravenes any provision of this Act or of any rule or order made thereunder shall, if no other penalty is provided for such contravention, be punishable with imprisonment for a firm which may extend to <sup>99</sup>[one year], or with fine which may extend to <sup>100</sup>[three thousand rupees], or with both."

#### **GUJARAT**

# 22A. General provision for punishment of other offences

Any employer who contravenes any provision of this Act or of any rule or order made thereunder shall, if no other penalty is provided for such contravention by this Act, be punishable with fine which may extend to <sup>101</sup>[twenty thousand rupees.]

#### **KARNATAKA**

<sup>102</sup>[In section 22A of the Principal Act, for the words "five hundred rupees" the words "ten thousand rupees" shall be substituted.]

### **KERALA**

<sup>103</sup> [For section 22A of the principal Act, the following section shall be substituted, namely:

- 22A. General Provision for punishment of other offences
- (1) Whoever contravenes the provisions of this Act or the rules made thereunder shall be punishable with fine which may extend to two lakh rupees and in the case of a continuing contravention, with an additional fine which may extend to two thousand rupees for every day during which such contravention continues:
  - Provided that the total amount of fine shall not exceed two thousand rupees per worker employed.
- (2) If any person who has been convicted of any offence punishable under subsection (I) is again guilty of an offence involving a contravention or failure of compliance of the same provision, he shall be punishable on a subsequent conviction with fine which shall not be less than one lakh rupees, but which may extend to five lakh rupees.
- (3) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (2) of section 29 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (Central Act 2 of 1974), it shall be lawful for the Magistrate to impose a tine for an amount exceeding ten thousand rupees."]

#### **DELHI**

<sup>104</sup>[In Section 22A, for the words "with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees", the words "with imprisonment for a term of one year, or with fine twenty thousand rupees or with both" shall be substituted]

# 22B. <sup>105</sup>[Cognizance of offences

- (1) No Court shall take cognizance of a complaint against any person for an offence:
  - (a) under clause (a) of section 22 unless an application in respect of the facts constituting such offence has been presented under section 20 and has been granted wholly or in part, and the appropriate Government or an officer authorised by it in this behalf has sanctioned the making of the complaint:
  - (b) under clause (b) of section 22 of under section 22 A, except n a complaint made by, or with the sanction of, an Inspector.
- (2) No Court shall take cognizance of an offence:
  - (a) under clause (a) or clause (b) of section 22, unless complaint thereof is made within one month of the grant of sanction under this section;
  - (b) Under section 22A, unless complaint thereof is made within six months of the date on which the offence is alleged to have been committed.]

#### STATE AMENDMENTS

### **BIHAR**

In clause (b) of sub-section (2) of section 22B of the said Act, the following proviso shall be inserted, namely:

["Provided that the Court, if it is satisfied that the State Government or any officer authorised by it in this behalf was prevented by sufficient cause from sanctioning the making of the complaint within the period specified in sub-section (2) shall condone the delay and allow the complaint to be made even after the expiry of the said period." [106]

#### **GUJARAT**

In section 22B, for clause (b) of sub-section (2), substitute the following:

["(b) under section 22A, unless the complaint thereof is made within six months of the date on which the offence becomes known to the Inspector."]<sup>107</sup>

### **MADHYA PRADESH**

In section 22B.

- (1) [of sub-section (1) in clause (a), for the words and figures "unless an application in respect of the facts constituting such offence has been presented under section 20", substitute the words and figures "unless a claim under section 20 has been preferred before the authority" and
- (2) in sub-section (2) in clause (a), for the words "one month", substitute the words "three months."]<sup>108</sup>

#### **MAHARASHTRA**

[Same as in Gujarat.] 109

# **DELHI**

- <sup>110</sup>[In Section 22 B, After sub-section 2, the following sub-section shall be inserted, namely;
- (3) The court before whom the prosecution complaint is made under section 22 shall dispose of the same within a period of three months from the date of making of the complaint.]

# 22C. <sup>111</sup>[Offences by companies

- (1) If the person committing any offence under this Act is a company, every person who at the time the offence was committed, was in charge of, and was responsible to, the company for the conduct of the business of the company as well as the company shall be deemed to be guilty of the offence and shall be liable to be proceeded against and punished accordingly;
  - Provided that nothing contained in this sub-section shall render any such person liable to any punishment provided in this Act if he proves that the offence was committed without his knowledge or that he exercised all due diligence to prevent the commission of such offence.
- (2) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (1), where an offence under this Act have been committed by a company and it is proved that the offence has been committed with the consent or connivance of or is attributable to any neglect on the part of, any director, manager, secretary or other officer of the company, such director, manager, secretary or other officer of the company shall also be deemed to be guilty of that offence and shall be liable tube proceeded against and punished accordingly.

Explanation - For the purposes of this section,

- (a) "Company" means anybody corporate and includes a firm or other association of individuals; and
- (b) "director" in relation to a firm means a partner in the firm.]

# **STATE AMENDMENTS**

## **MADHYA PRADESH**

After section 22C add the following:

"22CC. Liability of principals in certain cases:

1) [Subject to the provisions of subsection(2), where in any scheduled employment in respect of which minimum rate of wages have been fixed under this Act, any person (hereinafter in this section referred to as principal) contracts with any other person (hereinafter in this section referred to as contractor) for having any goods made for sale for the purposes of the trade or the principal either wholly or partly out of materials supplied to the contractor by the principal, then notwithstanding that the employees for making such goods are employed by the contractor, the principal shall also in addition to the contractor be for all purposes of this Act to be the employer in relation to the employees:

Provided that where by virtue of the provision of sub-section (1), a principal is convicted of an offence punishable under section 22, he shall be punishable only with fine as provided florin that section.

(2) The provisions of this section shall apply only to such scheduled employments as testate Government may, by notification, specify in this behalf,"]<sup>112</sup>

## **MANIPUR**

After section 22C, add the following section, namely:

["22CC. Compounding of offences: An officer specially empowered by the State Government in this behalf by notification in the Official Gazette may, subject to any general or special order of the State Government in this behalf, compound any offence punishable under this Act with fine only committed for the first time either before or after the institution of the prosecution on realization of such amount of composition fee as he thinks fit, not exceeding the maximum amount of fine fixed for the offence, and where the offence is so compounded:

- (i) Before the institution of the prosecution, the offender shall not be liable to prosecution for such offence and shall, if in custody, be set at liberty:
- (ii) After the institution of the prosecution, the composition shall amount to acquittal of the offender." | 113

#### **UTTAR PRADESH**

In its application to the State of Uttar Pradesh, after section 22Cinsert section 22CC, as under:

["22CC. Compounding of offences - An officer specially empowered by the State Government in this behalf by notification may, subject to any general or special order of testate Government in this behalf, compound any offence punishable under this Act with fine only committed for the first time, either before or after the institution of the prosecution, normalization of such amount of composition fee as he thinks fit, not exceeding the maximum amount of fine fixed forth offence; and where the offence is so compounded:

- (iii) before the institution of the prosecution, the offender shall not be liable to prosecution for such offence and shall, if in custody, be set at liberty;
- (iv) after the institution of the prosecution, the composition shall amount to acquittal of the offender."]<sup>114</sup>

#### **GUJARAT**

# 22CC. 115[Compounding of offence

(1) Any offence punishable under section 22A may, either of offences. before or after the institution of the prosecution, on an application by the alleged offender, be compounded by such officer or authority as the State Government may, by

notification in the Official Gazette, specify in this behalf for such amount as specified in the Table below.

**TABLE** 

Section	Compounding amount					
1	2					
22A	Number of employees employed in the industries	For first offence	For second offence	For third offence		
	1 to 50	1500	3000	6000		
	51 to 100	3000	6000	10000		
	101 to 500	4000	8000	15000		
	more than 500	5000	10000	20000		

Provided that the State Government may, by notification in the Official Gazette, amend the compounding amount specified in the Table above:

Provided further that the offence committed of the same nature shall be compoundable only for the first three offences:

Provided also that such offences shall be compounded only after the alleged offender has acted to the satisfaction of such officer or authority that such offence is not continued any further:

Provided also that when an offence is compounded on an application by the employer, then seventy-five per cent. of the compounding amount received from him, shall be paid to the concerned employee or equally amongst the employees and if any employees are not identifiable, then the remaining amount shall be deposited in the Gujarat State Social Security Board constituted under the Unorganised Workers' Social Security Act, 33 of 2008.

(2) Where an offence has been compounded under sub-section (1), no further proceedings shall be taken against the offender in respect of such offence."]

# 22D. <sup>116</sup>[Payment of undisbursed amounts due to employees

All amounts payable by an employer to an employee as the amount of minimum wages of the employee under this Act or otherwise due to the employee under this Act or any rule or order made thereunder shall, if such amounts could not or cannot be paid to the employee on account of his death before payment or on account of his whereabouts not being known, be deposited with the prescribed authority who shall deal with the money so deposited in such manner as may be prescribed.]

#### **STATE AMENDMENT**

# **MADHYA PRADESH**

[Section 22D of the principal Act shall be re-numbered as section 23.]<sup>117</sup>

# 22E. 118[Protection against attachment of assets of employer with Government

Any amount deposited with the appropriate Government by an employer to secure the due performance of a contract with that Government and any other amount due to such employer from that Government in respect of such contract shall not be liable to attachment under any decree or order of any Court in respect of any debt or liability incurred by the employer other than any debt or liability incurred by the employee employee in connection with the contract aforesaid.]

# 22F. <sup>119</sup>[Application of Payment of Wages Act, 1936, to scheduled employments

- (1) Notwithstanding anything contained in the payment of Wages Act, 1936 (4 of 1936), the appropriate Government may, by notification in the Official Gazette, direct that, subject to the provisions of sub-section (2), all or any of the provisions of the said Act shall, with such modifications, if any, as may be specified in the notification, apply to wages payable to employees in such scheduled employments as may be specified in the notification.
- (2) Where all or any of the provisions of the said Act are applied to wages payable to employees in any scheduled employment under sub-section (1), the Inspector appointed under this Act shall be deemed to be the Inspector for the purpose of enforcement of the provisions so applied within the local limits of his jurisdiction.]

#### STATE AMENDMENT

#### **MADHYA PRADESH**

[In section 22F, in sub-section (2), for the words "local limits", substitute the word "area".]<sup>120</sup>

# 22G. Registration of certain scheduled employment.

- (1) [Every employer shall, in such scheduled employments as the State Government may, by notification, specify in this behalf, gel his establishment registered in such manner and on payment of such fees as may be specified in the notification.
- (2) Nothing in sub-section (1) shall apply to such establishments to which the provisions of the Factories Act, 1948 (63 of 1948), or the Madhya Pradesh Shops and Establishments Act, 1958 (25 of 1958) apply."]<sup>121</sup>

# 23. Exemption of employer from liability in certain cases

Where an employer is charged with an offence against this Act, he shall be entitled, upon complaint duly made by him, to have any other person whom he charges as the actual offender, brought before the Court at the time appointed for hearing the charge; and if, after the commission of the offence has been proved the employer proves to the satisfaction of the Court:

- (a) that he has used due diligence to enforce the execution of this Act, and
- (b) that the said other person committed the offence in question without his knowledge, consent or connivance,

that other person shall be convicted of the offence and shall be liable to the like punishment as if he were the employer and the employer shall be discharged:

Provided that in seeking to prove, as aforesaid, the employer may be examined on oath, and the evidence of the employer or his witness, if any, shall be subject to cross-examination by or on behalf of the person whom the employer charges as the actual offender and by the prosecution.

#### **STATE AMENDMENT**

#### **MADHYA PRADESH**

[Section 23 of the principal Act shall be re-numbered as section 22D of that Act,]<sup>122</sup>

#### 24. Bar of suits

No Court shall entertain any suit for the recovery of wages in so far as the sum so claimed:

- (a) forms the subject of an application under section 20 which has been presented by or on behalf of the plaintiff; or
- (b) has formed the subject of a direction under that section in favor of the plaintiff, or
- (c) has been adjudged in any proceeding under that section not to be due to the plaintiff, or
- (d) could have been recovered by an application under that section.

# 25. Contracting out

Any contract or agreement, whether made before or after the commencement of this Act, whereby an employee either relinquishes or reduces his right to a minimum rate of wages or any privilege or concession accruing to his under this Act shall be null and void in so far as it purports to reduce the minimum rate of wages fixed under this Act.

## 26. Exemptions and exceptions

- (1) The appropriate Government may, subject to such conditions, if any, as it may think fit to impose, direct that the provisions of this Act shall not apply in relation to the wages payable to disabled employees.
- (2) The appropriate Government may if for special reasons it thinks so fit, by notification in the Official Gazette, direct that. <sup>123</sup>[subject to such conditions and] for such period as it may specify the provisions of this Act or any of them shall not apply to all or any class of employees employed in any scheduled employment or to any locality where there is carried on a scheduled employment.
- 124(2A) The appropriate Government may, if it is of opinion that, having regard to the terms and conditions of service applicable to any class of employees in a scheduled employment generally or in a scheduled employment in a local area. <sup>1</sup>[or to any establishment or a part of any establishment in a scheduled employment], it is not necessary to fix minimum wages in respect of such employees of that class <sup>125</sup>[or in respect of employees in such establishment or such part of any establishment] as are in receipt of wages exceeding such limit as may be prescribed in this behalf, direct, by notification in the Official Gazette and subject to such conditions, if any, as it may think fit to impose, that the provisions of this Act or any of them shall not apply in relation to such employees.]

(3) Nothing in this Act shall apply to the wages payable by an employer to a member of his family who is living with him and is dependent on him.

Explanation - In this sub- section a member of the employer's family shall be deemed include his or her spouse or child or parent or brother or sister.

#### STATE AMENDMENTS

#### **MADHYA PRADESH**

[In section 26 after sub-section (2A), add the following new subsection:

"(2AA) Where the State Government is of the opinion that it is necessary or expedient in the public interest so to do, it may by notification and subject to such condition, if any, as may be specified therein, direct that all or any of the provisions of this Act shall not apply in relation to all or any class of employers in any scheduled employment."]<sup>126</sup>

### **MAHARASHTRA**

In section 26 to sub-section (2A), insert the following proviso:

["Provided that the powers of the State Government under this sub-section may, subject to the control of State Government, be exercised by Commissioner of Labour."]<sup>127</sup>

### 27. Power of State Government to add to Schedule

The appropriate Government, after giving by notification in the Official Gazette not less than three months' notice of its intention so to do, may, by like notification, add to either Part of the Schedule any employment in respect of which it is of opinion that minimum rates of wages should be fixed under this Act, and thereupon the Schedule shall in its application to the <sup>128</sup>[State] be deemed to be amended accordingly.

# **STATE AMENDMENT**

# 129 BIHAR

After section 27, insert the following sections, namely:

### 27A. Protection to persons acting under the Act

No suit, prosecution or other legal proceeding whatsoever shall lie against any person for anything which, is in good faith done or intended to be done in due discharge of his duties under this Act.]

#### 27B. Transfer of cases from one Court to another.

The State Government or any Authority subordinate to it, if so authorised by the State Government by an order in writing in this behalf, may, be notification in the Official Gazette, withdraw or recall any case pending at any time before any Authority appointed under sub-section (1) of section 20 of the Act and transfer the same to another appointed Authority for disposal in the prescribed manner."

# 130 MADHYA PRADESH

For section 27, substitute the following:

"27. The Slate Government, after giving by notification not less than three months' notice of its intention so to do, may, by like notification

- (a) add to either Part of the Schedule, any employment in respect of which it is of opinion that minimum rates of wages should be fixed under this Act;
- (b) modify or rescind any entry in either Part of the Schedule; and thereupon the Schedule shall in its application to the State be deemed to be amended accordingly.]

#### STATE AMENDMENT

#### **BIHAR**

<sup>131</sup>[After section 27, add the following sections namely:

"27A. Protection to persons acting under the Act. No suit, prosecution or other legal proceeding whatsoever shall lie against any person for anything which is in good faith done or intended to be done under this Act.

27B. Transfer of cases from one Court to another:

[The State Government or may Authority subordinate to it, if so authorised by the State Government by an order in writing in this behalf, may, by notification in the Official Gazette, withdraw or recall any case pending at any time before any Authority appointed under sub-section (1) of section 20 of the Act and transfer the same to another appointed Authority for disposal in the prescribed manner.]<sup>132</sup>

# **MADHYA PRADESH**

For section 27, substitute the following section namely:

- ["27. The State Government, after giving by notification not less than three months' notice of its intention so to do, may, by like notification:
- (a) add to either part of the Schedule, any employment in respect of which it is of opinion that minimum rates of wages should be fixed under this Act:
- (b) modify or rescind any entry in either part of the Schedule: and thereupon the Schedule shall in its application to the State be deemed to be amended accordingly".]<sup>133</sup>
- "27A. Protection to persons acting under the Act:

No suit, prosecution or other legal proceeding whatsoever shall lie against any person for anything which is in good faith done or intended to be done under this Act.

# "27B. Delegation of Power

- (1) The State Government may, by order, direct that any powers, other than the power exercisable by it under section 27 and 30, shall in such circumstances and in such manner, if any, as may be specified in the direction, be exercised by any officer not below the rank of Assistant Commissioner of Labour or authority subordinate to it.
- (2) Nothing in the Act shall derogate from the right of the State Government to exercise any power delegated to any officer or authority subordinate to it.]<sup>134</sup>

# 28. Power of Central Government to give directions

The Central Government may give directions to a <sup>135</sup> [State Government] as to the carrying into execution of this Act in the <sup>136</sup>[State].

#### 29. Power of the Central Government to make rules

The Central Government may, subject to the condition of previous publication, by notification in the Official Gazette, make rules prescribing the term of office of the members, the procedure to be followed in the conduct of business, the method of voting, the manner of filling up casual vacancies in membership and the quorum necessary for the transaction of business of the Central advisory Board.

# 30. Power of appropriate Government to make rules

- (1) The appropriate Government may, subject to the condition of previous publication, by notification in the Official Gazette, make rules for carrying out the purposes of this Act.
- (2) Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing power, such rules may--
  - (a) prescribe the term of office of the members, the procedure to be followed in the conduct of business, the method of voting, the manner of filling up casual vacancies in membership and the quorum necessary for the transaction of business of the committees, <sup>137</sup>[\* \* \*] sub-committees, and the Advisory Board;
  - (b) prescribe the method of summoning witnesses, production of documents relevant to the subject-matter of the enquiry before the committees, subcommittees <sup>138</sup>[\* \* \*] and the Advisory Board;
  - (c) prescribe the mode of computation of the cash value of wages in kind and of concessions in respect of supplies of essential commodities at concession rates;
  - (d) prescribe the time and conditions of payment of and the deductions permissible form, wages;
  - (e) provide for giving adequate publicity to the minimum rates of wages fixed under this Act;
  - (f) provide for a day of rest in every period of seven days and for the payment or remuneration in respect of such day;
  - (g) prescribe the number of hours of work which shall constitute a normal working day;
  - (h) prescribe the cases and circumstances in which an employee employed for a period of less than the requisite number of hours constituting a normal working day shall not entitled to receive wages for a full normal working day;
  - (i) prescribe the form of registers and records to be maintained and the particulars to be entered in such registers and records;
  - (j) provide for the issue of wage books and wage slips and prescribe the manner of making and authenticating entries in wage books and wage slips;

- (k) prescribe the powers of Inspector for purposes of this Act;
- (I) regulate the scale of costs that may be allowed in proceedings under section 20;
- (m) prescribe the amount of court-fees payable in respect of proceedings under section 20; and
- (n) provide for any other matter which is to be or may be prescribed.

#### **STATE AMENDMENTS**

### **MADHYA PRADESH**

After section 30of the principal Act, add the following:

["30A. Removal of difficulties - if any difficulty arises in giving effect to the provisions of this Act, the State Government may, by order, do anything, not inconsistent with the provisions of the Act, which appears to it to be necessary or expedient for the purposes of removing the difficulties."]<sup>139</sup>

## **MAHARASHTRA**

In section 30:

- (1) [in clause (g), for the words "a normal working day", substitute the words "a normal working day or week".
- (2) in clause (j), for the words "wage slips", at both places where they occur, substitute the words "or wage slips and attendance cards".]<sup>140</sup>

# 30A. <sup>141</sup>[Rules made by Central Government to be laid before Parliament]

- (1) 142[Every rule made by the Central Government under this Act shall be laid as soon as may be after it is made before each House of Parliament while it is in session for a total period of thirty days which may be comprised in one session or in two successive sessions. and if, before the expiry of the session in which it is so laid or the session immediately following, both Houses agree in making any modification in the rule or both Houses agree that the rule should not be made, the rule shall thereafter have effect only in such modified form or be of no effect, as the case may be; so, however, that any such modification or annulment shall be without prejudice to the validity of anything previously done under that rule.]
- (2) <sup>143</sup>Every rule made by the State Government under this Act shall be laid, as soon as may be after it is made, before the State legislature.

# 31. <sup>144</sup>Validation of fixation of certain minimum rates of wages

Where during the period

- (a) commencing on the 1st day of April 1952, and ending with the date of the commencement of the Minimum Wages (Amendment) Act, 1954 (26 of 1954); or
- (b) commencing on the 31st day of December 1954 and ending with the date of the commencement of the Minimum Wages (Amendment) Act, 1957 (30 of 1957); or
- (c) commencing on the 31st day of December 1959 and ending with the date of the commencement of the Minimum Wages (Amendment) Act, 1961 (31 of 1961).

minimum rates of wages have been fixed by an appropriate Government as being payable to employees employed in any employment specified in the Schedule in the belief or purported belief that such rates were being fixed under clause (a) of sub-section (1) of section 3, as in force immediately before the commencement of the Minimum Wages (Amendment) Act, 1954 (26 of 1954), or the Minimum Wages (Amendment) Act, 1957 (30 of 1957), or the Minimum Wages (Amendment) Act, 1961(31 of 1961). as the case may be, such rates shall be deemed to have been fixed in accordance with law and shall be called in question in any court on the ground merely that the relevant date specified for the purpose in that clause had expired at the time the rates were fixed:

Provided that nothing contained in this section shall extend, or be construed to extend, to affect any person with any punishment or penalty whatsoever by reason of the payment by him by way of wages to any of his employees during any period specified in this section of an amount which is less than the minimum rates of wages referred to in this section or by reasons of non- compliance during the period aforesaid with any order or rule under section 13.]

#### **STATE AMENDMENTS**

### **MADHYA PRADESH**

After section 13 of the principal Act, add the following:

"31A. Validation of certain minimum rates of wages

- (1) The rates of minimum wages fixed or revised in respect of employment Nos. 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 11 in Part I of the Schedule to the principal Act, under the Government of Madhya Pradesh. Labour Department Notification Nos. 306 to 309-XVI-58, dated the 30th December, 1958, shall be and shall always be deemed to have been validly fixed or revised and shall be deemed to have come into force on the date mentioned in the said notifications, notwithstanding any judicial decision to the contrary or any defect or irregularity in the constitution of the Advisory Board under section 7 of the principal Act read with section 9 thereof or publication of the notifications in the Gazette or non-compliance with any other requirement of law and shall not be called in question in any court merely on the ground that there was failure to comply with provisions of the principal Act.
- (2) The rate of minimum wages fixed or revised in respect of employment specified in Part II of the Schedule to the principal Act under the Government of Madhya Pradesh, Labour Department Notification No- 7758-XV1, dated 31stDecember, 1959, shall be and shall always be deemed to have been validly fixed or revised, notwithstanding any defect or irregularity in the constitution of the Committee under section 5 (1) (a), of the principal Act, read with section 9 thereof, or publication of the notification in the Gazette or non-compliance with any other requirement of law and shall not be called in question in any court merely on the ground that there was failure to comply with the provisions of the principal Act:

[Provided that nothing contained in this section shall extend or be construed to extend to affect any person with any punishment or penalty whatsoever by reason of the payment by him by way of wages to any of his employees during the period between the dates on which the aforesaid notifications come into force and the

date on which this Act comes into force an amount which is less than the minimum rates of wages immediately prevailing before the said notification or by reason of non-compliance during the period aforesaid with any order or rule issued under section 13 of the principal Act".]<sup>145</sup>

# **RAJASTHAN**

After section 31 of the principal Act, add the following section, namely:

"31A. Validation of certain minimum rates of wages.

[The rate of minimum wages fixed or revised before the commencement of the Minimum Wages (Rajasthan Amendment and Validation Ordinance, 1968, in respect of employment Nos. 1, 2, 3, 5. 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 13, 14, 16, 17, in Part I of the Schedule to the Act and employment in Part II of the Schedule to the Act shall be and shall be deemed to always have been validly fixed or revised as the case may be, and shall be deemed to have come into force on the date such fixation or revision has been brought into force by the State Government by a notification in the Official Gazette, notwithstanding any judicial decision to the contrary or any defect or irregularity in the constitution of the Committee or the sub-committee, or the Advisory Board under section 5 or section 7 of the Act read with section 9 thereof or publication of the notification in the Official Gazette or non-compliance with any requirement of law and shall not be called in question in any court merely on the ground that there was a failure to comply with the provisions of the Act]<sup>146</sup>

#### **DELHI**

After Section 31, the following section shall be inserted, namely:

31A. <sup>147</sup>[The employer shall Upload the employee data on website or web portal in the manner as may be prescribed.]

#### THE SCHEDULE

# [See section 2(g) and 27]

#### **PART I**

- 1. Employment in any woollen carpet making or shawl weaving establishment.
- 2. Employment in any rice mill, flour mill or dal mill.
- 3. Employment in any tobacco (including bidi making) manufactory.
- **4.** Employment in any plantation, that is to say, any estate which is maintained for the purpose of growing cinchona, rubber, tea or coffee.
- **5.** Employment in any oil mill.
- 6. Employment under nay local authority.
- 7. 148[Employment on the construction or maintenance of roads or in building operations.]
- **8.** Employment in stone breaking or stone crushing.
- **9.** Employment in any lac manufactory.
- **10.** Employment in any mica works.
- 11. Employment in public motor transport.

# Employment in tanneries and leather manufactory. 12. <sup>149</sup>[Employment in gypsum mines. Employment in barytes mines. Employment in bauxite mines.] <sup>150</sup>[Employment in manganese mines.] <sup>151</sup> [Employment in the maintenance of buildings and employment in the construction and maintenance of runways.] <sup>152</sup>[Employment in China Clay mines. Employment in Kyanite mines.] <sup>153</sup>[Employment in Copper mines.] <sup>154</sup>[Employment in clay mines covered under the Mines Act, 1952 (35 of 1952).] <sup>155</sup>[Employment in magnesite mines covered under the Mines Act, 1952 (35 of 1952).] <sup>156</sup>[Employment in white clay mines.] <sup>157</sup>[Employment in stone mines] <sup>158</sup>[Employment in steatite (including the mines producing Seapstone and Tale).] <sup>159</sup>[Employment in Ochre Mines.] <sup>160</sup>[Employment in Asbestos Mines.] <sup>161</sup>[Employment in Fire Clay mines.] <sup>162</sup>[Employment in Chromite mines.] <sup>163</sup>[Employment in quartizite mines. Employment in quartz mines. Employment in silica mines.] <sup>164</sup>[Employment in graphite mines.] <sup>165</sup>[Employment in felspar mines.] <sup>166</sup>[Employment in laterite mines.] <sup>167</sup>[Employment in dolomite mines <sup>168</sup>[Employment in redoxide mines.] <sup>169</sup>[Employment in wolfram mines.] <sup>170</sup>[Employment in iron ore mines.] <sup>171</sup>[Employment in granite mines] <sup>172</sup>[Employment in rock phosphate mines.] <sup>173</sup>[Employment in hematite mines.] <sup>174</sup>[Employment in loading and unloading in (i) Railways, goods sheds, (ii) Docks

and Ports.]

- <sup>175</sup>[Employment in marble and calcite mines.]
- <sup>176</sup>[Employment in Ahphit cleaning in Railways.]
- <sup>177</sup>[Employment in Uranium Mines.]
- <sup>178</sup>[Employment in ligmite mines.]
- <sup>179</sup>[Employment in gravel mines.]
- <sup>180</sup>[Employment in State mines.]
- <sup>181</sup>[Employment in laying of underground cables, electric lines, water supply lines and sewerage pipe lines.]
- <sup>182</sup>[Employment of Sweeping and Cleaning excluding activities prohibited under the Employment of Manual Scavengers and Construction of Dry Latrines (Prohibition) Act, 1993.]

#### **STATE AMENDMENTS**

#### **ASSAM**

In the Schedule, in part I, add the following entry, namely:

["Employment in sericulture"]183

# **GUJARAT**

- In the Schedule, in Part I, after entry 12, add the following entries, namely:
  - 13. "Employment in any residential hotel, restaurant or eating house as defined in the Bombay Shops and Establishments Act, 1948"; (Bombay Act 79 of 1948).
  - 14. "Employment in any industry in which any process of printing by letter-press, lithography, photogravure or other similar work, or work incidental to such process or book-binding is carried on"; and
  - 15. "Employment in any cotton ginning or cotton pressing manufactory":
  - 16. "Employment in any shop or commercial establishment, other than that covered under any of the other entries in this Schedule.
    - [Explanation: For the purposes of this entry, the expressions 'shop' and 'commercial establishment' shall have the same meanings as assigned to them in the Bombay Shops and Establishments Act, 1948."]<sup>184</sup>

#### **MAHARASHTRA**

- (1) In the Schedule in Part I, after entry 12, add the following entries namely:
  - 13. ["Employment in any residential hotel, restaurant or eating house as defined in the Bombay Shops and Establishments Act, 1948",
  - 14. Employment in any industry in which any process of printing by letter-press, lithography, photogravure or other similar work incidental to such process or book binding is carried on.
  - 15. Employment in any cotton ginning or cotton pressing manufactory

- 16. Employment in glass industry.
- 17. Employment in any shop or commercial establishment, other than that covered under any of the other entries in this schedule.

Explanation: For the purposes of this entry, the expression 'shop' and 'commercial establishment' shall have the meanings respectively assigned to them in the Bombay Shops and Establishments Act, 1948.

18. Employment in potteries"]<sup>185</sup>

[In the Schedule to the principal Act, in Part I, in Entry 17, for the words "other than that covered" the words "not being an employment in any bank or an employment which is included" shall be substituted.]<sup>186</sup>

#### **MAHARASHTRA**

[In the Schedule, in part I, add the following entries, namely:

"Employment in clearing and sorting of onions and other incidental work." 187

# **TAMIL NADU**

In the Schedule, in part I, add the following entries, namely:

- 1. [Employment in agriculture.
- 2. Employment in forestry including silviculture, that is to say, aligning and stacking, surveying and demarcation of forest lands, digging pits for planting, transport of seedlings and other planting materials planting, weeding, tending, soil working, ploughing, fencing, application of fertilizers and pesticides, limer and logging operation, raising of nursery, breaking plots, watering collection of fertile earth of fertile earth of tank shit collecting, clearing and grading of seeds, scraping firelines, road works, building operations, up-keep of live-stock, collection of minor forest produce and other operations or occupations connected with forestry." 1188

#### **UTTAR PRADESH**

In the Schedule, in part I, add the following entry, namely:

["Employment in forestry, logging and limbering including employment in collection of any other forest produce and transportation of the same to the market."]<sup>189</sup>

### **PART II**

Employment in agriculture, that is to say, in any form of farming, including the
cultivation and tillage of the soil, dairy farming, the production, cultivation, growing and
harvesting of any agricultural or horticultural commodity, the raising of live- stock, bees
or poultry, and any practice performed by a farmer or on a farm as incidental to or in
conjunction with farm operations (including any forestry or timbering operations and
the preparation for market and delivery to storage or to market or to carriage for
transportation to market of farm produce).

<sup>1</sup> For Statement of Objects and Reasons, see Gazette of India, 1948, Pt. V, P. 224 and for the Report of the Select Committee, see Gazette of India, 1948, pt. V, pp. 55-58.

This Act has been extended to Dadra and Nagar Haveli by Reg. 6 of 1963, sec.2 and Sch. I, to Pondicherry by Reg. 7 of 1963, sec. I and to Laccadive, Minicoy and Amindivi Islands by Reg. 7 of 1963, sec. 3 and Sch. I and to Laccadive, Minicoy and Amindivi Islands by Reg. 8 of 1965, sec. 3 and Sch. The provisions of this Act shall come into force in the State of Sikkim with effect from day of October, 2004, vide S.O 1078(E), dated 1st October 2004 2Substituted by the A.O. 1950, for 'all the Provinces of India'. 3The words 'except the State of Jammu and Kashmir' omitted by Act 51 of 1970, section 2 and Sch. w.e.f. 1-9-1971. 4Substituted by Act 61 of 1986, section 23, for clause(a) w.e.f. 23-12-1986. 5Substituted by Act 30 of 1957, section 2, for "Central Government, by a railway administration" w.e.f. 17-9-1957. 6Substituted by the A.O. 1950, for "an Act of the central Legislature". 7Substituted by A.O. 1950, for "Provincial Government". 8Inserted by Act 61 of 1986, section 23 w.e.f.23-12-1986. 9 Inserted by Gujarat Amendment Act, 2015, Gazetted date, 30-09-2015. 10Substituted by Act 26 of 1954, section 2 for "Clause(e) of sub-section (1) of section 9 of the Factories Act, 1934 25 of 1934"w.e.f. 1954. 11 Added by Gujarat Amendment Act, 2015, Gazetted date, 30-09-2015. 12 Inserted by vide The Minimum Wages (Delhi) Amendment Act, 2017, dated 23rd April 2018. 13Inserted by Act 30 of 1957, section 2 w.e.f. 17-9-1957. 14Substituted by the A.O. 1950, for "Crown". 15 Substituted by vide M.P. Act 11 of 1959, sec. 2 (w.e.f.1-6-1959) and M.P. Act 23 of 1961,sec. 21 (b) (w.e.f.23-6-1961). 16 Re-numbered by vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 2 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961). 17 Substituted by vide Maharashtra Act 3 of 1963.sec. 2 (w.e.f.14-1-1963). 18Substituted by Act 26 of 1954, section 3, for sub-section (1) w.e.f. 20-5-1954. 19Substituted by Act 31 of 1961, section 2, for clause (a) w.e.f. 28-8-1961 20Inserted by Act 30 of 1957, section 3 w.e.f. 17-9-1957. 21Certain words omitted by Act 30 of 1961, section 2 w.e.f. 28-8-1961. 22Substituted by Act 31 of 1961, section 2, for "Within one year from the date on which it comes to such finding" w.e.f. 28-8-1961. 23Inserted by Act 31 of 1961, section 2 w.e.f. 28-8-1961. 24Substituted by Act 30 of 1957, section 3 for clause (b) w.e.f. 17-9-1957. 25Added by Vide Gujarat Act 22 of 1961, sec. 2 (w.e.f. 18-5-1961). 26Substituted by Vide Kerala Act 18 of I960., sec. 2 (w.e.f. 2-9-1960). 27Inserted by Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, see. 3 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961). 28Added by Vide Maharashtra Act 10 of 1961, sec. 2 (w.e.f. 15-2-1961). 29Substituted by Vide Maharashtra Act 3 of 1963, sec. 3 (w.e.f. 14-1-1963). 30 Sub section (2A) is omitted by Vide Bihar Act 5 of 1983, sec. 2 (w.e.f. 30-1-1983). 31 Sec 11 Renumbered as sec 4A Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 21 (w.e.f.23-6-1961). 32 Inserted by vide The Minimum Wages (Delhi) Amendment Act, 2017, dated 23rd April 2018. 33 Subs. By Act 30 of 1957, sec. 4, for section 5 (w.e.f. 17-9-1957). 34 Under sub-sect (2) Vide Assam Act 19 of 1964, sec. 2 (w.e.f 11-8-1964). 35 Substituted by Act 30 of 1957, section 4, for section 5 w.e.f. 17-9-19 36Substituted by Act 30 of 1957 section 6, for "committees, advisory committees and advisory sub-committees appoint ted under section 5 and 6" w.e.f. 17-9-1957. 37Substituted by A.O. 1950 for "Provincial Governments". 38 The Words "advisory committees, advisory sub-committees" omitted by Act 30 of 1957, section 7 w.e.f. 17-9-1957. 39Substituted under Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 5 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961). 40Substituted under Vide Rajasthan Act 4 of 1969, sec. 3 (w.e.f. 4-4-1969). 41Substituted under Vide Rajasthan Act 4 of 1969, sec. 3 (w.e.f. 4-4-1969). 42Under section 9 Vide Tamil Nadu Act 47 of 1981, sec. 2 (w.e.f. 1-10-1981). 43Substituted by Act 30 of 1957, section 8, for section 10 w.e.f. 17-9-1957. 44 Added by 63 of 1948, Bom. LXXIX of 1948, Gujarat G.O. Ex. 30-09.2015. 45 Inserted by Mah. Act 26 of 2010 Payment of Minimum Wages (Maharashtra Amendment) Act, 2010. 46 Substituted by vide The Minimum Wages (Delhi) Amendment Act, 2017, dated 23rd April 2018. 47 Inserted by vide The Minimum Wages (Delhi) Amendment Act, 2017, dated 23rd April 2018. 48 Substituted by vide The Minimum Wages (Uttar Pradesh) Amendment Act, 2017, dated 12<sup>th</sup> January 2018. 49 Under section11 renumber Vide M.P.Act 23 of 1961,sec. 21 (w.e.f.23-6-1961). 50 The words "or section 10" omitted by Act 30 of 1957, section 9 w.e.f. 17-9-1957. 51 Inserted by vide Bihar Act 5 of 1983, sec. 3 (w.e.f. 30-1-1983). 52 Inserted by Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 6 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961) 53 Inserted by See M.P. Act 16 of 1962, sec. 4 (w.e.f. 5-8-1962). 54 Section 13 re-numbered as sub-section (1) of that by Act 30 of 1957, section 10 w.e.f. 17-9-1957. 55Added by Act 30 of 1957, section 10 w.e.f. 17-9-1957. 56 Inserted by Vide Maharashtra Act 3 of 1963, sec. 4 (w.e.f. 14-1-1963). 57 Substituted by Act 26 of 1954, section 4 for "section 47 of the Factories Act, 1934 25 of 1934" w.e.f. 20-5-1954. 58 Substituted by Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 7 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961). 59 Substituted by vide The Minimum Wages (Delhi) Amendment Act, 2017, dated 23rd April 2018. 60 Substituted by Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 8 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961). 61 Inserted by G.O. Ex. 30-09-2015. 62 Added by vide Bihar Act 9 if 1988, sec. 2 (w.e.f. 19-2-1988 63 Added by Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 9 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961). 64 Added by Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 10 (w.e.f. 14-1-1963).

65 Inserted by Vide Maharashtra Act 3 of 1963, sec. 5 (w.e.f. 14-1-1963)

66 Inserted by Vide U.P. Government Gazette, Extraordinary, dated 17th August, 1983. Pt. (Kha), p. 2.

```
67 Substituted by the A.O. 1950 for 'Crown'.
68Substituted by Act 30 of 1957, section 11 w.e.f. 17-9-1957.
69Inserted by Act 30 of 1957, section 11 w.e.f. 17-9-1957.
70 Inserted by vide Bihar Act 5 of 1983, sec. 4 (w.e.f. 30-1-1983).
71 Inserted by [Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, see. 11 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961)]
72 Substituted by Act 30 of 1957, section 12, for "any Commissioner for Workmen's Compensation or" w.e.f. 17-9-1957.
73Inserted by Act 30 of 1957, section 12 w.e.f. 17-9-1957.
74 Substituted by Act 30 of 1957, section 12, for certain words w.e.f. 17-9-1957.
75Inserted by Act 30 of 1957, section 12 w.e.f. 17-9-1957.
76Substituted by Act 30 of 1957, section 12, for sub-section (3) w.e.f. 17-9-1957.
77 Added by vide Bihar Act 5 of 1983, sec. 5 (w.e.f. 30-1-1983)
78 Substituted by Vide Bihar Act 9 of 1988, sec. 3 (19-2-1988).
79 Substituted by Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 12 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961)
80 Inserted by Vide Maharashtra Act 3 of 1963, sec. 6 (w.e.f. 14-1-1963).
81 Substituted by Vide Bombay Act 8 of 1954, sec. 2 and Schedule (w.e.f. 10-2-1954)
82 Substituted by Vide Maharashtra Act 25 of 1976, sec. 2 (w.e.f 1-2-1977).
83 Substituted by Vide Mysore Act 13 of 1965, sec. 66 and Schedule (w.e.f. 1-10-1965).
84 Substituted by Vide Karnataka Act 40 of 2017, sec. 20, 9th August, 2017.
85 Inserted by Vide Rajasthan Act 11 of 1976- sec. 3.
86 Substituted by Vide Kerala Act 23 of 2017, Published in the Gazette dated 20th October, 2017.
87 Inserted by vide The Minimum Wages (Delhi) Amendment Act, 2017, dated 23rd April 2018.
88Substituted by Act 30 of 1957, section 13, for 'A Single application' w.e.f. 17-9-1957.
89Inserted by Act 30 of 1957, section 13 w.e.f. 17-9-1957.
90 Inserted by [Vide Gujarat Act 23 of 1961, sec. 3 (w.e.f. 18-5-1961)
91 Inserted by [Vide Maharashtra Act 10 of 1961, sec. 3 (w.e.f. 15-2-1961)]
92 Substituted by Act 30 of 1957, section 14, for section 22 w.e.f. 17-9-1957.
93Substituted by vide Bihar Act 5 of 1983, sec. 6 (w.e.f. 30-1-1983).
94 Added by the Vide Maharashtra Act 3 of 1963, sec. 8 (w.e.f. 14-1-1963)]
95 Substituted by Vide Karnataka Act 40 of 2017, sec. 22, 9th August, 2017.
96 Substituted by Vide Kerala Act 23 of 2017, Published in the Gazette dated 20th October, 2017.
97 Substituted by vide The Minimum Wages (Delhi) Amendment Act, 2017, dated 23rd April 2018.
98Inserted by Act 30 of 1957.section 14 w.e.f. 17-9-1957.
99 Substituted by vide Bihar Act 5 of 1983, sec. 7 (w.e.f. 30-1-1983)
100 Substituted by vide Bihar Act 5 of 1983, sec. 7 (w.e.f. 30-1-1983)
101 Substituted by Gujrat Government Gazette Ex. 30-09-2015
102 Substituted by Vide Karnataka Act 40 of 2017, sec. 22A, 9th August, 2017.
103 Substituted by Vide Kerala Act 23 of 2017, Published in the Gazette dated 20th October, 2017.
104 Substituted by vide The Minimum Wages (Delhi) Amendment Act, 2017, dated 23rd April 2018.
105 Inserted by Act 30 of 1957, sec. 14 (w.e.f 17-9-1957).
106 Inserted by Vide Bihar Act 9 of 1988, sec. 4 (19-2-1988).
107 Substituted by Vide Gujarat Act 22 of 1961, section 4 (w.e.f. 18-5-1961).
108 Substituted by Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 13 (w.e.f. 26-6-1961).
109 Substituted by See Maharashtra Act 10 of 1961, sec. 4 (w.e.f 13-2-1961).
110 Inserted by vide The Minimum Wages (Delhi) Amendment Act, 2017, dated 23rd April 2018.
111 Inserted by Act 30 of 1957, section 14 w.e.f.17-9-1957.
112 Added by Vide M.P.Act 11 of 1959, sec. 2 (w.e.f.12-6-1959) as amended by M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 21(b) (w.e.f. 23-6-1961)
113 Inserted by vide Manipur Act 5 of 1993, sec. 2].
114 Inserted by Vide U.P. Act 35 of 1979, see. 5 (w.e.f.21-12-1979)
115 Inserted by Gujarat Amendment Act, 2015, Gazetted date, 30-09-2015.
116 Inserted by Act 30 of 1957, section 14 w.e.f. 17-9-1957.
117 Re numbered by Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 21(c) (w.e.f. 23-6-1961).
118 Inserted by Act 30 of 1957, section 14 w.e.f. 17-9-1957
119 Inserted by Act 30 of 1957, section 14 w.e.f. 17-9-1957
120 Substituted by Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 14 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961)
121 Added by the Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec, 15 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961).
122 Re numbered as Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 21(c) (w.e.f. 23-6-1961).
123Inserted by Act 30 of 1957, section 15 w.e.f. 17-9-1957.
124Inserted by Act 26 of 1954, section 5 w.e.f. 20-5-1954.
125Inserted by Act 30 of 1957, section 15 w.e.f. 17-9-1957.
126 Added by the Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 16 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961).
127 Inserted by Vide Maharashtra Act 3 of 1963, sec. 9 (w.e.f 14-1-1963).
128Substituted by the A.O. 1950, for "Province."
129 Vide Bihar Act 5 of 1983, sec 9 (w.e.f. 30.01.1983).
130 Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 17 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961).
131 Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 18 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961).
132 Inserted by vide Bihar Act 5 of 1983, sec. 9 (w.e.f. 30-1-1983)
133 Substituted by vide Madhya Pradesh Act 23 of 1961, sec. 17 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961).
134 Added by the Vide Madhya Pradesh 23 of 1961, sec. 18 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961).
135Substituted by A.O. 1950 for "Provincial Government".
136Substituted by A.O. 1950, for "Province".
137Added by Act 31 of 1961, section 3 w.e.f. 28-8-1961.
```

```
138Added by Act 31 of 1961, section 3 w.e.f. 28-8-1961.
139 Added by Vide M.P. Act 23of 1961, sec. 19 (w.e.f 23-6-1961).
140 Substituted by the Vide Maharashtra Act 3of 1963, sec. 10 (w.e.f. 14-1-1963)
141Added by Act 31 of 1961, section 3 w.e.f. 28-8-1961.
. 142 Section 30A renumbered as sub-section (1) thereof by Act 4 of 2005 sec. 2 and Sch. (w.e.f. 11-1-2005)
143 Inserted by Act 4 f 2005, sec. 2 and Sch (w.e.f. 11-1-2005)
144 Inserted by Act 26 of 1954, section 6 w.e.f. 28-8-1954 and Substituted by Act 31 of 1961, section 4 for section 31 (w.e.f. 28-8-1961.)
145 Added by the Vide M.P. Act 23 of 1961, sec. 20 (w.e.f. 23-6-1961).
146 Added by the ." Vide Rajasthan Act 4 of 1969, sec. 4 (w.e.f. 4-4-1969).
147 Inserted by vide The Minimum Wages (Delhi) Amendment Act, 2017, dated 23rd April 2018.
148 Substituted by Act 30 of 1957, section 18, for item No. 7 with retrospective effect.
149 Inserted by S.O. 3760, dated 4th December, 1962 w.e.f. 15-12-1962
150 Inserted by S.O. 4030, dated 30th October, 1967w.e.f. 11- 1-1967.
151 Inserted by S.O. 1987, dated 30th May, 1968
152. Inserted by S.O. 586, dated 5th February, 1970 w.e.f. 5-2-1970
153 Inserted by S.O.795, dated 13th February, 1970
154 Inserted by S.O. 796, dated 18th February, 1970
155 Inserted by S.O. 2357, dated 1st july , 1970.
156 Inserted by S.O. 3896, dated 3rd September, 1971.
157 Inserted by S.O. 3898, dated, dated 15th September, 1971.
158 Inserted by S.O. 2972, dated 1st July, 1972 (w.e.f. 21-10-1972).
159 Inserted by S.O. 2973, dated 1sh July, 1972 (w.e.f. 21-10-1972).
160 Inserted by S.O.2974, dated 6th July, 1972. (w.e.f. 21-10-1972).
161 Inserted by S.O.1587, dated 24th May, 1973.
162 Inserted by S.O.2311, dated, 3rd July, 1975. (w.e.f. 3-7-1975).
163 Inserted by S.O 807, dated 4th February, 1976.
164 Inserted by S.O. 558, dated 29th January, 1977 (w.e.f. 12-2-1977).
165 Inserted by S.O. 1823, dated 14th June, 1978.
166 Inserted by S.O. 2945, dated 22nd September, 1978.
167 Inserted by S.O. 2950, dated 25th September, 1978 (w.e.f. 7-10-1978).
168 Inserted by S.O 3248, dated 26th October, 1978.
169 Inserted by S.O. 3671, dated 7th December, 1978 (w.e.f. 23-12-1978).
170 Inserted by S.O. 1757, dated 16th June, 1978w.e.f. 28-6-1980.
171 Inserted by S.O. 2473, dated 20th September, 1980w.e.f. 23-9-1980.
172 Inserted by S.O. 1824, dated 22nd March, 1983.
173 Inserted by S.O. 1957, dated 11th April, 1983w.e.f. 23-4-1983.
174 Inserted by S.O. 2092, dated 24th April, 1983 (w.e.f. 7-5-1983).
175 Inserted by S.O. 3455, dated 20th August, 1983.
176 Inserted by S.O. 2093, dated 23rd April, 1983 (w.e.f. 7-5-1983).
177 Inserted by S.O. 2693, dated 1st August 1986.
178 Inserted by S.O. 439 (E), dated 3rd November, 2005 (w.e.f. 7-11-2005).
179 Inserted by S.O. 439 (E), dated 3rd November, 2005 (w.e.f. 7-11-2005).
180 Inserted by S.O. 439 (E), dated 3rd November, 2005 (w.e.f. 7-11-2005).
181 Inserted by S.O. 439 (E), dated 3rd November, 2005 (w.e.f. 7-11-2005).
182 Added by S.O. 1573 (E), dated 3rd November, 2005 (w.e.f. 7-11-2005).
183 Added by Vide Assam Government Gazette, dated2nd February, 1977, Pt. IIA, P. 430.
184 Added by Vide Gujarat Act 22 of 1961, sec. 5 (w.e.f. 18-5-1961).
185 Added by Vide Maharashtra Act 10 of 1961, sec. 5 (w.e.f 15-2-1961).
186 Added by Vide Maharashtra Act 3 of 1963, sec. 11 (w.e.f. 14-1-1963).
187 Added by Vide Maharashtra Government Gazette, dated 30th October, 1980, pt, I-L, P. 9023.]
188 Added by Vide Tamil Nadu Government Gazette, dated 24th September, 1980, Pt. II, Sec. 2, P. 711.]
```

189 Added by Vide Uttar Pradesh Government Gazette, Extra, dated 12th January, 1976, P.2.]